
 

 

"Our Only Alma Mater": 

The Civilian Conservation 

Corps and the C&O Canal 
Special History Study, Final Draft 

 

Josh Howard 

12/16/2017 

 

 

 

 



 

Table of Contents 
 

1 ... Introduction 

9 é Historiography & The New Deal 

 17 é African Americans & the CCC 

32 é The Companies Experiences Prior to Arriving at the Canal 

 33 é Camp NF-7 (Wolf Gap) 

 42 é Camp MP-4 (Wilderness) 

47 é CCC to the C&O 

 53 é Deploying the Enrollees 

64 é The Canal Camps 

 70 é Food, Newspapers, Religion, & Recreation 

 82 é Education & Agency 

 100 é Decline 

110 é Legacy 

 116 é Recommendations 

119 é Appendices 

 119 é Appendix A: List of CCC Enrollees and Administrators 

 127 é Appendix B: Baseball Clubs 

 129 é Appendix C: Other Athletics Teams 

 131 é Appendix D: Course Schedules at Canal Camps 

134 é Additional Maps 

136 é Bibliography  



 

 

 

 

 

Towpath Journal, Jun. 29, 1939. 

  



 

Acknowledgements 

 This project would not have been possible without the support provided by a few key 

individuals from the National Park Service and C&O Canal Trust. First, Josh Whitman provided 

an immense amount of research support and proofreading. If not for him, this project could not 

have completed in the time frame allotted. Sophia Kelly and Justin Ebersole provided much 

needed guidance and their own expertise throughout. Blyth McManus also laid the groundwork 

for this study with her own excellent research and was supportive throughout. Others in 

Hagerstown like Becky Curtis and Karen Gray also provided the support needed to carry this 

project through to completion. Finally, thank you to all attendees of two public presentations at 

Hagerstown who provided feedback. 

 The volunteer reviewers all provided immense feedback to draft manuscripts and deserve 

mention by name: Nancy Benco, Elizabeth Catte, Becky Curtis, Jeri DeYoung, Justin Ebersole, 

Karen Gray, Dean Herrin, Sophia Kelly, John McCarthy, Blyth McManus, Robert Mertz, Heidi 

Schlag, Angela Sirna, Patricia White, and Josh Whitman. I would also like to more generally 

thank the reviewers who provided excellent suggestions for further development of this project. 

One clear need is to expand the project into the post-World War II time period in analyzing 

memory and National Park Service interpretation of the Civilian Conservation Corps at the C&O 

Canal. 

 

  



1 

Introduct ion 

 On November 6, 1938, a Baltimore Sun newspaper article informed readers the 

Chesapeake and Ohio (C&O) Canal would soon be watered again ï only this time, it would be 

open to the public for recreational purposes. By next autumn, canoeists and other recreational 

boaters could travel between Georgetown and Seneca, MD, roughly the first twenty-two miles of 

the 184.5 mile defunct canal. This new usage was a far cry from the commercial coal 

transportation seen at the canal over the previous century. All this was thanks to the Civilian 

Conservation Corps (CCC). The Sun did not explain any projects in depth but promised CCC 

workers were hard at work building roads and clearing the right of way. Beyond this, the article 

was short on details regarding the CCC. One detail is noticeable in its absence ï the fact that all 

of these CCC enrollees were African American men.
1
 

 Many of the African American men who worked for the CCC at the C&O Canal were 

experienced conservationists by the time of their arrival. A little under half of all CCC men at the 

canal labored previously at Wilderness, VA, part of Fredericksburg-Spotsylvania National 

Military Park, on restoring the battlefield to its wartime appearance. Before Wilderness, a few 

worked in conservation and recreational work in Wolf Gap, VA, a United States Department of 

Agriculture (USDA) Forest Service administered project. This camp's administrators had 

experience as well, such as Major Lewis Heider's previous five years as superintendent of 

Vicksburg National Military Park.
2
 CCC projects at the canal demanded such experience as the 

labor required to convert the C&O Canal into a recreational park was immense. Enrollees were 

up to the task. As of January 1, 1942 the CCC men logged 83,800 and 74,900 "man days," which 

a man day meaning the amount of work that can be done by one person in an eight-hour period, 

                                                           
1
 "Restored C&O Canal to Contrast with Earlier Days," The Sun (Baltimore, MD), Nov. 6, 1938. 

2
 Todd Croteau, Tim Davis, Pete Brooks, Deborah James, Gregory Seale, and Courtney Jones, "Vicksburg National 

Military Park Roads and Bridges," Historic American Engineering Record No. MS-14 (Washington, D.C., 1997). 



2 

at Camps NP-1-MD and NP-2-MD respectively completing a herculean amount of work along 

the canal's first twenty-two miles.
3
 Compared to other CCC camps, both canal camps 

demonstrated remarkable consistency over their existence with few changes in administration 

and a high standard of work. Even after both camps closed in 1941 and 1942, CCC 

administrators hoped to re-establish both once the war ended because of the immense amount of 

work still needed. This obviously did not happen given the agency's official and final closure in 

1942. Instead, the National Park Service stepped in during and after World War II to further 

develop the canal property into a public recreational site. The property would be designated a 

National Monument by President Dwight Eisenhower under the Antiquities Act in 1961 and as a 

National Historical Park by act of Congress in 1971. 

 What follows in this text is a special history study that focuses on a single theme to 

provide a basis for new interpretation of the C&O Canal by the NPS, C&O Canal Trust, or any 

other interested party and. As required by DO-28, this study is not a baseline document. The 

hope is that this document will inform future interpretation such as tours, wayside exhibits, and 

exhibits within Lockhouse 10 and any future research studies on related topics. . The primary 

goal is to outline all known information stemming from Camp NP-1 housing Company 325 (Co. 

325) and Camp NP-2 housing Company 333 (Co. 333), both located in Cabin John less than one 

mile apart. The CCC story actually begins before Cabin John with Co. 333's prior assignments in 

Wolf Gap and Wilderness, VA. After tracing the enrollee experience in Virginia, the narrative 

moves to the C&O Canal. The bulk of this manuscript simultaneously traces the work projects 

                                                           
3
 Charles H. Gerner, "Report of Civilian Conservation Corps Operations in the National Capital Parks, October 15, 

1933 - June 30, 1942," (Washington, DC: National Park Service, June 1950), 101-102. Robert Coates, "Inventory of 
Work Accomplished by the CCC Camps Under the Jurisdiction of the National Capital Parks, October 19, 1933 to 
January 1, 1942," National Park Service, January 15, 1942; National Capital Region: Subject Files, Box 44, Entry 149, 
RG 79, NACP. 
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carried out by CCC enrollees at the canal and the enrollee lived experience, including their 

experience with education, religion, media, recreation, and so on. Finally, this work documents 

the legacy of the CCC by discussing still standing structures, identifiable alumni, and the 

presence of the canal camps in public memory.  

 

Figure 1 - Aerial view of Camp NP-2. National Archives at College Park. 

 Tracking the exact work conducted by CCC men is somewhat difficult for several 

reasons. As the work was spread out along twenty-two miles, administrators did a poor job 

tracking exactly what was being done considering much of the work was the same ï stabilizing 

canal walls, restoring the towpath, and bracing lock walls ï no matter the location. Workers from 

other agencies or from private companies also completed some projects in this area as well 
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further making it difficult to specifically identify CCC work. As these camps were exclusively 

composed of African American men, tracking enrollees post-CCC is even more difficult given 

oppressive Jim Crow laws and structural discrimination that kept many of these men from 

advancing their careers and thus out of many public records. 

 The canal camps provide insight into African American CCC experiences in the mid-

Atlantic region. By the time of the canal camps, the most contentious debates over segregation 

and African American enrollment had already transpired. Racial segregation within the CCC was 

a fact of life African American, but debates emerged often regarding discriminatory selection 

procedures for both enrollees and administrators. CCC administrators likely agreed to the canal 

camps because of pressures from unknown African American leaders as very few African 

Americans on relief rolls were receiving CCC assignments. Only one African American camp 

existed in Maryland as of mid-1938, a full five years into the CCC's existence, with hundreds, 

likely thousands, of African American men in need languishing on Maryland and Washington 

D.C. relief rolls. Virginia likely also had a backlog on African American relief rolls as well even 

though Virginia had significantly more African American CCC camps. Even though the canal 

camps are a small sample size overall, the information garnered here provides new insight into 

African American CCC experiences on NPS sites, in the mid-Atlantic region and beyond as 

surprisingly little historical research exists on African American CCC companies in the eastern 

United States. 

 Camp NP-2 specifically provides significant evidence of how African American leaders 

with little formal power were able to exhibit power and free will beyond title and rank. The CCC 

canal camps, like all others, had a dual leadership system. An Army officer along with three or 

four subordinates controlled logistics of the camp while National Park Service employees, 
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usually between four and ten, managed all project work along the canal. Stationed along with the 

Army officers was the lone African American administrator, the camp Educational Officer. C. 

Rushton Long, Co. 333's Educational Advisor, was perhaps the most respected and active 

administrator in the canal camps and was able to use his position of modest power to consistently 

grow his own personal influence while bettering the lives of those African American men for 

whom he was responsible. In its original conception, the educational advisor position was to do 

little more than organize classes for enrollees on topics ranging from basic education to technical 

skills. By the end of Camp NP-2's existence, Long was the de facto leader of the enrollees. He 

still oversaw their classes, coached and organized all sporting events, helped find the men jobs 

outside of the CCC, and connected the men with other black communities such as Shaw about 

eleven miles away in Washington D.C. There are suggestions that Long's influence spread a 

short mile down the canal to Camp NP-1 as well as the possibility that enrollees followed Long 

to Philadelphia post-CCC to enroll in trade school. This level of power, authority, and leadership 

was exemplary across the CCC. 

 Little is known as of this writing about the men stationed at the canal camps. Lists of 

names are readily apparent and a few men can be traced through later government records, but 

most men simply went back to their private lives after their CCC experience leaving little 

publicly available documentation. Some, like Amos Custis from West Point, VA, left the CCC to 

join the military before returning from his tour to settle down permanently in Washington D.C. 

Others had more tragic stories. Sidney Halsey of Covington, VA moved to Charleston, WV after 

his time with Co. 333 where he remained unemployed for a few years. He is also one of few 

enrollees for whom photographs are known to exist (see Figure 2). Halsey was one of the first 

men who signed up for the Selective Service draft on Oct. 16, 1940 and was likely assigned as an 
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orderly within a hospital. Tragically Halsey died on June 21, 1942 at the State Colored 

Tuberculosis Sanitarium in Denmar, WV and is buried in Covington. Custis and Halsey knew 

each other for certain with both having served on the camp's newspaper editorial staff when Co. 

333 was stationed in Wilderness, VA.  

 

Figure 2 - Sidney Halsey, ca. 1940 

 Before continuing further, a brief note on government notation and terminology is 

needed. The CCC was a complex agency with often flexible rules and governance structures. 

Each CCC camp received an official three-part designation consisting of a code representing the 

type of work projects, a number, and a state abbreviation. For instance, Camp NP-1-MD was 

named as such because "NP" represented camps working in National Parks, the numeral "1" was 

simply an identifier, and "MD" meant the camp was physically located in Maryland (and bore no 

implications on the home state of the enrolled men). For this manuscript, the state abbreviation is 

dropped after its first use since there were no camps with shared names throughout this study. 

Some camps also received nicknames to help with identification and those have been used when 
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it provided clarity. Housed within each camp was a single company, meaning an organized group 

of men in the military sense, of two hundred enrollees plus a few administrators. Companies and 

camps were paired entities in that "camps" were generally the administrators, buildings, and 

projects while "companies" included all enrollees. Companies rarely operated at maximum 

capacities because of the relatively quick turnover caused primarily by desertions owed to the 

hard physical labor on the canal and the close proximity to most enrollees' family home. Each 

company was designated with a number that had no bearing on the company's duties or 

composition. For this report, companies are referred to using the abbreviation "Co." throughout. 

Finally, throughout this essay the term "administration" or "administrators" is employed to make 

reference to any number of government authorities holding any degree of decision-making power 

at CCC camps. This could include individuals within the CCC, Army, NPS, USDA Forest 

Service (USFS), Department of the Interior, or the White House. From the surviving records, we 

can never be certain. With these CCC records, sometimes it is unclear exactly which 

administrator issued a command or held authority in a situation. Using this catch-all term is 

inexact, but necessary. Finally, the majority of primary source records used in this study came 

from the National Archives and Record Administration in College Park, the C&O Canal National 

Historical Park library, CCC-produced newspapers, newspapers from nearby locales, and 

newspapers produced by the Black press. 

 This project is divided into several sections and sub-sections. Section One addresses the 

basic history of the CCC and the historiography of both the New Deal and the Civilian 

Conservation Corps. This section also contains a single sub-section specifically addressing the 

history and historiography of African Americans in the CCC. Section Two primarily documents 

the experience of Co. 333 before their arrival at the canal. The two sub-sections explore their 
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time at Camp NF-7-VA (Wolf Gap, VA) and Camp MP-4-VA (Wilderness, VA) respectively. 

Section Three moves to the C&O Canal and analyzes how and why the government decided to 

acquire the canal property and utilize CCC camps in the canal's restoration. A single sub-section 

primarily documents the earliest projects undertaken by the camps. Section Four delves into the 

lived experiences of camp life with three sub-sections dedicated to camp life, the CCC education 

program, and the eventual decline and closing of the camps. Section Five concludes with an 

overview of the CCC's legacy at the C&O Canal and recommendations for future work. The 

back matter includes appendices, photographs, maps, and a bibliography. 

 

Figure 3 - General Plan, Carderock, 1939. Shaded areas indicate proposed locations of Camp NP-1-MD and Camp NP-2-

MD. 
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SECTION ONE: HISTORIOGRAPHY & THE NEW DEAL  

 The CCC was a relief program established during President Franklin Roosevelt's (FDR) 

first hundred days designed to provide relief work for unemployed young men and their families. 

The original idea of the CCC is difficult to track throughout the literature, but most authors credit 

President Roosevelt himself. As the story goes, FDR calling a meeting on March 9, 1933 that 

included the secretaries of war, interior, and agriculture to propose  an idea that would "put 

500,000 men from cities and towns into the woods to plant trees, reduce fire hazards, clear 

streams, and check erosion." The President instructed these men to come up with a plan. Five 

hours later, they returned with just that. FDR approved and, after some minor revisions, the 

group presented the bill to congressional leadership for consideration. Two significant 

amendments were added onto the bill: Forest Service Chief Major R.Y. Stuart requested that 

CCC projects be conducted on both public and private land, and Congressman Oscar De Priest 

proposed a non-discriminatory enrollee selection policy. More on the latter of these amendments 

appears in the next section. On March 31 the Emergency Conservation Work Act became law by 

a Congressional voice vote. Given this bill took just three weeks to go from idea to law, it 

remained more a framework than guiding document with constantly evolving functionality as the 

program developed.
4
 

 Each CCC camp was to have two hundred enrollees overseen by a combination of Army 

officers and other agencies. In general, the Army was to supply the basics ï food, transportation, 

water supply, clothing, toiletries, mess kits, and lodging. Housing was initially in the form of 

tents but would later be temporary wooden structures built by the enrollees themselves. Most 

                                                           
4
 Robert Pasquill, Jr., The Civilian Conservation Corps in Alabama, 1933-1942 (Tuscaloosa: The University of 

Alabama Press, 2008), 12-13. Ray Hoyt, "We Can Take It": A Short Story of the CCC (New York: American Book 
Company, 1935), 19-20. Leslie Alexander Lacy, The Soil Soldiers: The Civilian Conservation Corps in the Great 
Depression (Randor, PA: Chilton, 1976), 29. 
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camps worked twelve months out of the year and burned coal for heating. Camps also had trash 

incinerators as administrators concerned themselves with minimizing the human footprint on the 

natural landscape by the standards of the time. Other agencies ï most often the Forest Service, 

National Park Service, or the War Department ï supplied equipment and expertise related to 

work projects. In order to enroll in the CCC, each man had to be on a relief roll managed by state 

or local agencies. Pay was $30 a month for all enrollees with the condition that enrollees send 

$22 to $25 of their salary to a dependent, usually the enrollee's wife, girlfriend, or parents. The 

rest the enrollee kept for spending money. Immediately after enrollment each man underwent a 

medical examination and Army physical. Those found to be in good physical shape underwent a 

ten day "conditioning" program to gain weight, become acclimated to CCC scheduling, and 

await their assignment to a project camp. The first enrollee entered the CCC on April 8 and the 

first camp ï Camp NF-1 in George Washington National Forest (GWNF) near Edinburg, VA ï 

on April 17.
5
 

 Both the New Deal and CCC have been subjects of scholarly inquiry and public interest 

for many years resulting in varied arguments, each of which shapes how politicians, academics, 

and the public understand and interpret these topics today. The New Deal was a massive series of 

government programs with varied results. Historians writing on this era almost all focus 

generally on a simple two-part question with no definitive answer: did it work? And what has 

been the New Deal's legacy? The general answer to the former is almost always in the negative ï 

                                                           
5
 There are suggestions from camp inspections that some enrollees gamed the system. For instance, Charles 

Cavanaugh left the CCC because his dependent reneged on an agreement where they would send Cavanaugh a 
portion of their allotment. Also note that $30 in April 1933 is roughly equivalent to $580 in 2017. "CPI Inflation 
Calculator," United States Bureau of Labor Statistics, https://data.bls.gov/cgi-bin/cpicalc.pl (accessed Sep. 1, 2017). 
Pasquill, 14-15. Stan Cohen, The Tree Army: A Pictorial History of the Civilian Conservation Corps (Missoula, MT: 
Pictorial Histories Publishing Company, 1980), 25-26. Carrie Leonard, "Roosevelt's Tree Army," Curio (Summer 
1984): 42. Roy Wisler, Desertion Report, Nov. 1, 1939; CCC Camp Inspection Reports, Entry 115, RG 35, NACP. 
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the New Deal did not solve the Depression ï but scholars radically differ in measuring legacy, 

successes, and failures.  

 The first wave of historical writings came from the Progressive or Consensus school of 

historical thought and despite similarities in approach, this group differed greatly in their 

conclusions. Historians in the late 1940s drew parallels between the New Deal and Progressives 

politicians, usually Theodore Roosevelt and Woodrow Wilson, to show there was nothing truly 

radical about FDR policies, just an extension of Progressivism.
6
 Even in noting New Deal 

shortcomings, Arthur Schlesinger, perhaps the most notable of this group of scholars, praised the 

programs for "representing an essential continuity which in face of crisis helped preserve 

American unity" and measured the New Deal as a success in terms of social morale as much as 

economic recovery.
7
 Starting in the mid-1950s, another group of Progressive historians 

represented disagreed with Schleinger's forgiving assessment. To Richard Hoftstadter, the New 

Deal represented a radical shift in American governance because of both FDR's personal 

involvement and willingness to more expansively deploy federal resources.
8
 Carl Degler went 

even further in his assessment by terming the New Deal the "Third American Revolution," 

coming after the American Revolution and the Civil War, because the concurrent ascent of 

economic liberalism and long-term decline of laissez faire economic theory.
9
 Taking a more 

explicitly negative position, Edgar Robinson broke somewhat with progressives in that his 

                                                           
6
 Samuel Elliot Morrison and Henry Steele Commanger, The Growth of the American Republic, Vol. 2 (New York: 

University of Oxford Press, 1950). 
7
 Arthur M. Schlesinger, Jr., The Age of Roosevelt: The Coming of the New Deal (Houghton Mifflin, 1958), 175-176. 

8
 Richard Hoftstadter, The Age of Reform from Bryan to FDR (New York: Vintage Books, 1955). 

9
 Carl Degler, Out of Our Past, The Forces that Shaped Modern America (New York: Harper, 1959). 
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interpretation positioned the New Deal as the centralization of federal power, the growing power 

of bureaucracy, and the encroachment of government on private economic freedoms.
10

 

 Following the Progressive school were the Revisionists, generally known for offering 

fresh criticisms of the New Deal, and New Left historians, who approached their historical topics 

of study with new approaches from radical, Marxist, and liberal schools of thought. The prime 

example of Revisionist scholarship comes from William Leuchtenburg, who challenged the 

notion of a revolutionary, progressive New Deal by depicting FDR's actions as partial in scope 

by excluding large social groups in need.
11

 James Patterson further explored the New Deal's 

shortcomings and placed blame squarely on Congress and the conservative, primarily Southern 

wing of the Democratic Party.
12

 By the 1970s, a general consensus emerged from this group of 

historians that was best summarized by John Braeman in 1972: 

First, that the New Deal was committed to the preservation of the capitalist 

system through the elimination of its worst abuses and the establishment of 

minimum levels of existence for the mass of the nation's citizens; second, that 

Roosevelt personally, and the New Deal generally lacked any master plan for 

reshaping the American social order and thus dealt in ad hoc fashion with specific 

problems; and third, that the New Deal inaugurated the modern-day "broker-

state", with its unequal distribution of benefits among different interest groups 

depending upon their political and economic muscle.
13

 

 Challenges and complications of this consensus next came from a loose group of 

historians referred to as New Leftists. New Left historians are more defined by a varied approach 

than an overarching narrative. For instance, Susan Ware focused her work exclusive on the effect 

the New Deal had on women, Howard Zinn challenged that the New Deal actually reduced 

                                                           
10

 Edgar Robinson, The Roosevelt Leadership, 1933-1945 (New York: Lippicott, 1955). 
11

 William Leuchtenburg, Franklin D. Roosevelt and the New Deal, 1932-1940 (New York: Harper, 1963). 
12

 James Patterson, Congressional Conservatism and the New Deal: The Growth of the Conservative Coalition in 
Congress, 1933-1939 (Lexington: University of Kentucky Press, 1967). 
13

 John Braeman, "The New Deal and the 'Broker State': A Review of the Recent Scholarly Literature," Business 
History Review 46, no. 4 (Winter 1972), 409. 
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workers' rights by swallowing unions into mainstream politics, and Harvard Sitkoff argued the 

New Deal failed to properly address the disproportionately large economic problems facing 

African Americans.
14

 Since, New Deal scholarship has taken on radically different approaches 

with just as varied conclusions, but starting in the 1980s most historians moved away from 

ideology-driven and national-level analysis toward a more critical analysis of individual 

agencies, states, social groups, and "bottom-up" social and cultural histories that looked at the 

intersection of the New Deal with everyday life. Reflecting this thought upon the New Deal 

itself, both Alan Brinkley and David Kennedy argued New Deal politicians themselves 

constrained the realm of possibilities with their own narrowed ideologies although each author 

differed in their conclusions on how far administrations were willing to shift their beliefs.
15

  

 Of all New Deal programs, the CCC maintains one of the best reputations among 

historians and the general public. To historians, the CCC was a success from the perspective of 

government, enrollees, the military, and the public at large. Perusing all of the works above, few 

historians presented the CCC in a negative light. The earliest work on the CCC, John Salmond's 

The Civilian Conservation Corps 1933-1942 remains the standard canon for an overarching 

reference book that is short on analysis but rich in administrative detail at the national level.
16

 A 

host of other works ï many written by CCC veterans ï published since the 1970s generally 

represent the agency in a positive light and dig a bit deeper than Salmond into specific details, 

such as The Forest Service and the CCC, Roosevelt's Forest Army, Soil Soldiers, and John 

                                                           
14

 Susan Ware, Beyond Suffrage: Women in the New Deal (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1971). Howard 
Zinn, A People's History of the United States (New York: Harper, 1980). Harvard Sitkoff, A New Deal for Blacks: The 
Emergence of Civil Rights as a National Issues (New York: Oxford University Press, 1978). 
15

 Alan Brinkley, The End of Reform: New Deal Liberalism in Recession and War (New York: Vintage, 1995). David 
Kennedy, Freedom From Fear: The American People in Depression and War, 1929-1945 (New York: Oxford 
University Press, 1999). 
16

 John Salmond, The Civilian Conservation Corps, 1933-1942: A New Deal Case Study (Durham, NC: Duke University 
Press, 1967). 
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Paige's administrative history The Civilian Conservation Corps and the National Park Service.
17

 

Beyond Salmond, the highest quality monograph on the CCC published more recently remains 

Neil Maher's Nature's New Deal although it should be supplemented with Olen Cole's The 

African American Experience in the Civilian Conservation Corps.
18

 Maher focuses his analysis 

on the CCC's role in the American environmentalism movement and argued the success of the 

CCC labor force was enough to tip public and political opinion in favor of nature conservation 

for the foreseeable future. Cole's work constrains itself to California, so plenty of complexities 

facing African Americans, especially those in the South, remain fertile ground for historians. 

 In the past two decades, a new wave of historians writing on the CCC focused their 

analysis upon a single state. Most view the CCC as a successful relief agency that provided 

income and dignity to enrollees, generated positive public relations for President Roosevelt's 

New Deal agenda, and completed a range of recreational and preservation projects for the public 

good. Writing in 1998, James Wright Steely's book on Texas' first state park investigated the role 

of the CCC in completing this important state project. Two other historians continued Steely's 

Texas analysis: Kenneth Hendrickson's short article five years later provided a broader overview 

of the CCC's activities throughout Texas, and Keith Volanto's followed in 2008 explored the 

effect of CCC segregation on African American camps and local communities in West Texas.
19

 

                                                           
17

 Alison T. Otis, William D. Honey, Thomas C. Hogg, and Kimberly K. Lakin, The Forest Service and the Civilian 
Conservation Corps: 1933-1942 (U.S. Forest Service, 1986). Perry Merrill, Roosevelt's Forest Army: A History of the 
Civilian Conservation Corps, 1933-1942 (Montpelier, VT: Perry Merrill, 1981). Lacy, Soil Soldiers. John C. Paige, The 
Civilian Conservation Corps and the National Park Service, 1933-1942: An Administrative History (Washington D.C.: 
National Park Service, 1985). 
18

 Neil Maher, Nature's New Deal (New York: Oxford University Press, 2006). Olen Cole, The African American 
Experience in the Civilian Conservation Corps (Gainesville: University of Florida Press, 1999). 
19

 James Wright Steely, Parks for Texas: Enduring Landscapes of the New Deal (Austin: University of Texas Press, 
1999). Kenneth E. Hendrickson, Jr., "Replenishing the Soil and the Soul of Texas: The Civilian Conservation Corps in 
the Lone Star State as an Example of State-Federal Work Relief during the Great Depression," The Historian 65 
(Summer 2003): 801-16. Keith J. Volanto, "'Up in Arms': Local Protest vs. the Placement of Black CCC Camps in 
West Texas," West Texas Historical Association Yearbook 83 (2007): 96-110. 
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A sample of other state-level works include those on New Mexico,
20

 South Dakota,
21

 Alabama,
22

 

Pennsylvania,
23

 South Carolina,
24

 and New Hampshire.
25

 Still others narrow their research a 

local, sometimes single-camp, level. Denise Meringolo's work on Mesa Verde, for instance, 

shows how the government used CCC enrollees at NPS units to become the first "test audience" 

for recreational activities. The enrollees' experience then became visitor studies data, in effect, 

that would influence the future development of the NPS.
26

 As of this writing, there are no 

published academic works that analyze the CCC in Maryland, Virginia, or Washington D.C., but 

research does exist documenting the CCC experience at the C&O Canal primarily in the form of 

grey literature. Outside of Angela Sirna's work, the best resource on the CCC in Maryland is Lisa 

Davidson and James Jacobs' Historic American Buildings Survey documenting CCC activity in 

the National Capital Region of the NPS.
27

 

 It would be wrong to say the CCC is without its critics, most of who focused on the 

military aspect of the agency. For instance, Jeffrey Suzik, writing in 1999, was one of the more 

critical authors of the CCC by arguing the Army's role in the camps militarized society to high 
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 Richard Meltzer, Coming of Age in the Great Depression: The Civilian Conservation Corps Experience in New 
Mexico, 1933-1942 (Las Cruces, 2000). 
21

 Kenneth E. Hendrickson, Jr., "The Civilian Conservation Corps in South Dakota," South Dakota History 11 (1980): 
1-20. 
22

 Billy Hinson, "The Civilian Conservation Corps in Mobile County, Alabama," Alabama Review 45 (1992): 243-256. 
Pasquill, The Civilian Conservation Corps in Alabama. 
23

 Joseph Speakman, At Work in Penn's Woods: The Civilian Conservation Corps in Pennsylvania (College Park: The 
Pennsylvania State University Press, 2006). 
24

 Tara Mitchell Mielnik, New Deal, New Landscape: The Civilian Conservation Corps and South Carolina's State 
Parks (Columbia: University of South Carolina Press, 2011). 
25

 David Draves, "The Civilian Conservation Corps in New Hampshire," Historical New Hampshire 43 (1988): 89-119. 
26

 Denise Meringolo, "Turning Nature into History: The Professionalization of Public History in the National Park 
Service during the 1930s" (Ph.D. Diss., George Washington University): 193. 
27

 Angela Sirna, "From Canal Boats to Canoes: The Transformation of the C&O Canal, 1938-1942" (master's thesis, 
West Virginia University, 2011). L.P. Davidson and J. A. Jacobs, "Civilian Conservation Corps Activities in the 
National Capital Region of the National Park Service," (Washington, D.C.: Department of the Interior, Historic 
American Building Survey, 2005). 
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degree and threatened to create a class of "citizen-soldiers."
28

 Schivelbusch echoed this analysis 

a few years later by viewing the CCC as one of the more productive cogs in the New Deal 

national security state machinery.
29

 Historians have written surprisingly little on the CCC 

education program that caused so much strife in its time. Early in the CCC's existence, critics 

backed by the National Education Association and the American Association of School 

Administrators warned educational programming was a federal overreach that posed a threat to 

pre-existing public education programs controlled by state and local governments. Next, some 

members of Congress worried that Army control mixed with the educational program created de 

facto Army recruitment centers that would prey upon vulnerable youth and often drew 

unfavorable comparisons to the growing militarism in fascist nations. This debate continued until 

the CCC's ultimate closing with no readily apparent solutions, but such a complex debate has 

received scant treatment from historians except in some state-level works.
30
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AFRICAN AMERICAN S & THE CCC 

 

Figure 4 - Enrollees Repairing Prism at the C&O Canal. National Archives at College Park. 

 Technically speaking, the New Deal did not ascribe to anti-racist or integrationist values 

thanks to the national Democratic Party's need to retain the support of Southern Congressmen 

and their white constituents. The same could not be said of many high level administrators in 

appointed office. Most New Deal administrators were sympathetic to the plight of African 

Americans and sought to remedy discrimination. Most important among these for the CCC was 

Harold Ickes, the Secretary of the Interior who had formerly been president of the Chicago 

branch of the NAACP. During the mid-1930s, Secretary Ickes generally encouraged 

subordinates to pursue racial equality by hiring African Americans and pushing back against 

segregationist policies whenever possible. Eventually this would change as Ickes would mandate 
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full desegregation of NPS facilities by the end of World War II. Still, Ickes fell short of 

demanding radical change and rarely enforced racial equality outside of Washington D.C. and 

instead prioritized harmony with subordinates while the CCC was in its critical and formative 

infancy. Ickes' primary goal hereafter was to address both long and short-term needs of African 

American communities by building a pool of African American skilled labor alongside economic 

relief programs. An interracial group of advisors led by Clark Foreman, a liberal white 

Southerner, and assistants Robert C. Weaver, William J. Trent, Jr., and William H. Hastie, both 

African American themselves, held that racial social equality could only come once economic 

relief and equality created a broader base of support from the white public.
31

 

 Oscar De Priest, an Illinois House Republican and lone African American Congressman 

at the time, championed a "color-blind" CCC by amending the legislation to include anti-

discrimination passages. What surprised many at the time was that Southern Congressmen so 

easily supported a new agency that made discrimination explicitly illegal without even a debate. 

The De Priest amendment meant the Civilian Conservation Corps Reforestation Relief Act 

outright rejected all segregation or discrimination in hiring works based on "race, color, creed, or 

criminal records." This made the CCC the only New Deal agency to include such a wide 

reaching measure immediately upon inception.
32

  

 FDR's selection of Robert Fechner as CCC director was politically motivated in the sense 

that the FDR administration needed critical Southern and pro-labor Democrats to vote in favor of 

CCC and other New Deal legislation. Fechner satisfied both criteria as an officer in the 
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International Association of Machinists and as a native Tennessean who grew up in Georgia. 

With both voting blocs satisfied with Fechner, the CCC legislation easily passed Congress with 

anti-discrimination amendments intact. As it turned out, Southern Congressmen were further 

delighted with Fechner as he brought segregation nation-wide into the agency alongside a race-

based quota system in some Southern states despite its illegality. For instance, Clarke County, 

Georgia had a black population of approximately 60% yet the CCC had not yet enrolled a single 

African American. Investigations found that state administrators simply placed African 

American candidates in lower brackets of economic need so they could legally hire white men 

first.
33

 Complaints from African American leaders and reforms spearheaded by W. Frank 

Persons, who directed CCC enlistments policies, led to an increase in black enrollment, but 

Fechner actively sought to compound the problem. During the CCC's first year, Fechner 

established a policy that African Americans could comprise no more than 10% of the overall 

CCC, arguing that any deviation from the overall US black population of roughly 10% would 

result in unfair enrollment. This policy was outrageous to individuals like Persons and De Priest 

who pointed out that African Americans comprised of more than 10% on relief rolls. Making this 

even more unfair was Fechner's order that black enrollees could only serve in their home state, a 

policy that had a massive impact upon African American enrollment throughout the South where 

African American populations were highest. This decision affected potential enrollees in 

Maryland, Virginia, and the District of Columbia.
34

 Even worse, newspapers reported early of 
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unfair treatment of African American enrollees by white administrators. For instance, the CCC 

dishonorably discharged Eddie Simmons, an African American enrollee from Harlem, without 

his final pay from a New Jersey camp for refusing to "fan flies" from a white officer. Simmons 

was correct in this refusal ï such work, as it were, was not part of a CCC enrollee's duty. The 

NAACP filed an official complaint to Fechner on behalf of Simmons. Fechner actually sided 

with Simmons in this case and revised his discharge to "honorable" and, just as importantly, paid 

out the month's paycheck owed to Simmons. There were no indications that the Army officer had 

been disciplined in any way nor was the possibility of Simmons' full reinstatement part of the 

agreement.
35

 

 The quota system, unfair treatment of enrollees, and lagging African American 

enrollment led to calls for change. A Julius Rosenwald Fund investigation from early 1935 that 

found CCC enrollment in Florida numbered at 863 whites and just 18 African Americans.
36

 This 

type of inequality led black organizations to protest directly to the President via FDR appointee 

Edgar Brown, CCC Special Consultant on Negro Affairs. FDR launched a War Department 

investigation that quickly found that most localities actually ignored many of Fechner's 

restrictive orders. Lower-level administrators regularly sent African Americans to work across 

state lines and integration was generally being followed except in southern states. This 

investigation further recommended integration throughout the CCC and the abolishment of all-

black camps. In response, Fechner directly contradicted the report's findings by sending every 

African American enrollee back to their home states and the implementation of "strict 

segregation," citing a racial violence problem despite no such findings in the report. Historians 
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have long puzzled why Fechner took such a sharp turn towards segregation contrary to Army 

recommendations, but most generally assume Fechner's southern upbringing had more of an 

effect on his politics than his liberal leanings suggested.
37

 Both Roosevelt and Ickes personally 

took an interest by late 1935. FDR issued a simple, one sentence directive to hire African 

American foreman in jobs requiring manual skilled labor.
38

 Ickes directly instructed Fechner to 

hire African American supervisors within African American CCC camps. In Ickes' words, "I am 

quite certain that Negroes can function in supervisory capacities just as efficiently as can white 

men and I do not think that they should be discriminated against merely on account of their 

color."
39

 The NAACP also became more involved by accusing Fechner and the CCC of 

discrimination. Fechner pushed back against such accusation, informing Thomas Griffith, 

NAACP President, that "negro enrollees themselves prefer to be in companies composed 

exclusively of their own race" and that "segregation is not discrimination."
40

 

 By early 1935 and having made no progress on the quota issue, Persons took a new 

approach with Fechner by targeting a single aspect of the CCC ï the education program. Director 

Fechner continued to segregate the CCC by installing yet another a new policy, this time that 

African Americans would only be enrolled in order to fulfill vacancies in existing black 

companies. In other words, the CCC would not create any new African American companies. 

Persons reasoned that if he could not significantly increase African American enrollment, then he 
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should instead improve current enrollees' quality of life. The goal was to install at least some 

African American administrators within camps to potentially provide African American Army 

Officers and other qualified men with a modicum of power. The eventual goal was a camp with 

100% African American administrators. The first step in this plan came with the suggestion that 

all educational advisers at African American CCC camps should be African American 

themselves (while camps with white enrollees would still have white educational officers). 

Again, this idea met resistance throughout the CCC and the Army, but the US Commissioner of 

Education, Secretary Ickes, and FDR personally approved. In May 1935, fourteen black 

educational advisers received their appointment and entered the field. From this point forward, 

all African American camps had African American educational officers. A similar push came 

again the following year that also met with success when twenty-five black medical officers and 

chaplains entered the field in August 1936.
41

 

 De Priest's efforts fell short of desired goals by the measure of both observers of the time 

and historians since. While some camps were integrated at first, the administrators segregated 

CCC camps following the direction of Fechner in mid-1935. Enrollment numbers were slow to 

grow as well, with the proportion of African American enrollees lagging between six and ten 

percent throughout the 1930s.
42

 Some scholars have since questioned if the De Priest amendment 

was actually needed to integrate the CCC citing other racially inclusive, relatively speaking, 

projects such as the Works Progress Administration (WPA) that had no such amendment. 

Regardless of the amendments perceived success or lack thereof, in the end around 140 African 

American camps hosting about 300,000 enrollees with an additional 30,000 black World War I 
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veterans across forty-three states existed throughout the CCC's existence. In contrast, at least 

2,500,000 white men labored for the CCC in about 2,500 camps. These numbers indicate that 

African American enrollment roughly tracked overall population ratios, but most gains were in 

the late 1930s and 1940s, which would have been five years too late for many men in need.
43

  

 Historians often debate the cause of lagging African American enrollment and place most 

blame upon Director Fechner's actions. Further debate continues regarding the root cause of his 

actions: politics or racism. A combination of the two is the most likely reason although most 

historians lean more toward interpreting Fechner's actions as those coming out of a politicking 

mind, not an exclusively racist one. Fechner's primary concern was to retain the support of 

powerful white Southern Democrat politicians and their voting blocs in order to continue the 

CCC in the long-term. Just a few dissenting Southern Democrats could have derailed the entire 

program. A close secondary concern though for Fechner was the possibility of racially motivated 

extralegal violence. White communities in both the North and South openly protested black CCC 

camps regularly citing typical racist fears: criminality, an increase in drunkenness, and the 

possibility of young black men coming in contact with white women. White locals in rural 

communities as far north as Thornhurst, Pennsylvania and Hornell, New York wrote to Director 

Fechner openly protesting the formation of black camps near their homes. From this letters, 

Fechner reasoned that racial conflict loomed as a legitimate possibility. By 1937, Fechner 

consciously located African American camps on NPS and USFS land away from population 

centers.
44

 An early Fechner solution to this problem in the North was a patriarchal one: small 

contingents of black enrollees were attached to white camps to demonstrate to white locals these 

young black men were fully under the control of white administrators and held in check by white 
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peers. The irony, as argued by staff of Gettysburg National Military Park, is that once white 

locals recognized over time the benefit of CCC labor, many communities ï including those in the 

South ï petitioned Fechner to place a CCC camp in their area no matter the race of enrollees.
45

 

 Writing in 1967, John Salmond was one of the first historians to address the question of 

African American enrollment in the CCC. In short, Salmond found the New Deal program 

lacking. According to his interpretation, Fechner was to blame for African American woes 

because of his "southern attitudes" toward integration and being all-too-willing to bow to racist 

political pressures.  Salmond does extend his blame beyond Fechner: FDR for not stepping in 

with executive authority, both northern and southern local communities for their outright racism, 

and dozens of white legislators who could have stepped in on behalf of their black constituents. 

In the end, Salmond viewed the CCC as a net positive for African Americans, but one that 

seemed relatively hollow given the quantity of undelivered promises. Salmond also expanded 

beyond the African American experience into the administrative history of the CCC concluding 

that the CCC's ultimate closure in 1942 with no efforts of revival post-war was because 

administrators considered it to be a temporary relief-centered program from the start. Fechner's 

inability to shake either the temporary or relief label doomed the CCC to never completely fulfill 

its potential to become a permanent conservation agency or vocational training program ï but 

despite this Salmond still found the agency to be "of the profoundest importance."
46

 

 Following shortly after Salmond was Calvin Gower's 1976 Journal of Negro History 

article on the fight for African American CCC leadership positions. Before this article though, 
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Gower's 1967 article on CCC educational programming outlined the program's administrative 

history. From an early point, the Army argued that formal education was outside of the CCC's 

scope. General MacArthur, interestingly enough, established in May 1933 a system where Army, 

USFS, and NPS staff would provide basic vocational education. Some members in Congress 

protested, temporarily halting the program, but ultimately the program won out in November 

1933 through the efforts of the U.S. Commissioner of Education George F. Zook. By late 1934, 

the CCC administered educational programs in 1,468 camps under the guidance of Dr. Clarence 

Marsh, a dean at the University of Buffalo. Howard W. Oxley, an educator based in Manhattan, 

took over the national education program in early 1935 and held the position until the closing of 

the CCC. Under Oxley's guidance, CCC educational program participation increased from 35% 

in 1934 to 74% in 1936 to 92% in 1938 across the entire agency.
47

 Still, Oxley's educational 

advisor position was not enviable to most people because it was a great challenge due to low 

literacy rates of enrollees. Writing in the Journal of Negro Education in 1938, Oxley reported 

that just 5.2% of all African American enrollees had graduated high school upon the time of their 

enrollment. In fact, a higher proportion of enrollees were illiterate (7.6%) than high school 

graduates, and far more had dropped out before the eighth grade (53.7%) versus those who 

continued on to at least some high school (38.7%). Somewhat surprisingly, roughly one-third of 

both white and African American enrollees reported having at least some vocational training 

before their CCC enrollment. In outlining a program to educate these men, Oxley devised one 

that was relatively straight-forward with two primary objectives: eliminating illiteracy and 

providing men a basic elementary-level education. Enrollees wanting a more advanced education 
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were enrolled in courses at nearby universities despite many educational advisors' concerns over 

the availability for white-collar jobs for these men.
48

 

 In his 1976 article, Gower builds on Salmond's work by focusing squarely on agitators 

for African American equality ï such as those in FDR's "Black Cabinet" ï and their agency 

rather than the biases of federal administrators. The typical antagonists, almost always Robert 

Fechner himself, play a central role in creating discriminatory policies. Gower pointed out that 

African Americans made modest gains in the CCC over time but were never able to fully 

overcome illegal discriminatory policies. Other historians outside of Gower generally pointed to 

the changing hearts and minds of administrators. Instead, Gower focuses on the actions of black 

leaders and the reticence of the FDR administration to violate Jim Crow segregation. For 

instance, Gower cited protests as early as May 1933 from Jesse Thomas of the National Urban 

League that no African Americans from majority African American Washington County, 

Georgia, had been enrolled by CCC administrators. Will Alexander of the Commission on 

Interracial Cooperation filed similar complaints regarding Georgia that same month. Over the 

next few years, other organizations filing complaints included the Julius Rosenwald Fund, Twin 

City Urban League, and the NAACP. This pressure did not change Robert Fechner ï in fact his 

discriminative policies worsened over time ï but did earn some concessions from Secretary of 

the Interior Harold Ickes, such as the appointment of African American educational officers at all 

African American CCC camps. Other powerful national leaders, including Howard University 

Secretary Emmett Scott, NAACP Executive Secretary Walter White, Senator Robert M. La 
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Follette, and Representative Arthur Mitchell, pushed for the CCC to appoint African American 

Army officers as camp commanders, although this campaign did not meet with similar success. 

These campaigns resulted in one and only all African American camp in Gettysburg, PA, but the 

CCC closed before any significant development took hold.
49

 

 Since the 1980s, historians both within and outside of the NPS began to document and 

analyze the skilled conservation work done by African American CCC enrollees. A number of 

scholars specifically interested in battlefield preservation in the NPS investigated the role of 

CCC labor in constructing these spaces only to find that African American enrollees did most of 

the early work. Writing in 1985, John Paige documented the presence of African American CCC 

laborers at the Civil War battlefields of Gettysburg, Shiloh, and Chickamauga and Chattanooga. 

After significant pressures from "black organizations," the NPS and War Department agreed to 

create all-black CCC camps with the first being in Gettysburg National Military Park, the 

spiritual home of Civil War memory. As a sort of pilot experiment, officials appointed an 

African American camp commander, superintendent, engineers, and other administrative staff 

and supported a full conversion from white to black supervision, a transition that was finalized in 

1940. Paige argued that NPS and Army officials all believed the Gettysburg experiment to be a 

full success, but as it wasn't finalized until late in the CCC's life there were no other all-black 

camps formed under NPS jurisdiction.
50

  

 By the 1990s, a number of scholars began to investigate the details of African American 

labor through the CCC. Scholars had already written about general CCC labor as early as the 

                                                           
49

 Gower, 123-131. 
50

 Paige, The Civilian Conservation Corps and the National Park Service, 1933-1942. Edgar G. Brown, What the 
Civilian Conservation Corps is Doing for Colored Youth, (Washington, D.C.: Federal Security Agency, 1940), 1-5. 
Charles William Johnson, "The Civilian Conservation Corps: The Role of the Army," (Ph.D. dissertation, University of 
Michigan, 1968), 167-168. Paige, Ch. 1. 



28 

1930s and 1940s, but now a new focus on black labor emerged. Most of these scholars 

approached their study with an assumption grounded in literature that the CCC generally 

discriminated against black men were throughout its existence. Instead of rehashing such stories, 

these scholars refocused their attention upon labor, achievement, and long-lasting change 

affected upon the landscape by these young men. One of these scholars was Oren Cole, Jr. 

writing in 1991 on African Americans in California-based CCC camps. Cole found that the men 

from these camps labored on a variety of conservation projects in state parks, national forests, 

and state forests, primarily developing roads, trails, and fire breaks. Some camps though 

performed specialized work, such as Camp La Cienega's work in Cleveland National Forest 

controlling pine beetles, containing a wild elk herd within Laguna Plateau Reserve, and fighting 

several major forest fires. This same camp also took on a project to train homing pigeons for 

communications during forest fire emergencies, meaning the men built coops, raised the birds, 

and trained them to fly to specific locations. According to Cole, this pigeon project was the first 

of its kind nation-wide and a grand success. Cole also found African American enrollees faced 

racism even in these remote California camps. Former enrollees reported "numerous racial 

remarks" targeting them from US Army officers, Forest Service employees, and even chaplains, 

thus showing the difficult life of black men in this agency extended throughout the nation.
51
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Figure 5 - Enrollee operates a road surfacing roller, Camp A-2, Beltsville, MD, May 1940. National Archives at College 

Park. 

 The most recent study of African American CCC camps comes from Timothy Smith's 

2017 monograph on NPS managed battlefields. Smith argues the NPS and New Deal programs 

"drastically altered the way current battlefields were managed and the way new ones were 

developed" specifically in the way NPS officials sought to open sites to the public alongside a 
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professionalizing education program. New Deal agencies, primarily the CCC, provided money 

and labor while also symbolically shifting parks away from military sacredness toward 

restoration, access, and recreation. As for African American CCC camps, Smith found that the 

relationship between enrollees, agencies, and the public varied greatly from park to park. For 

instance, African American enrollees successfully restored a park with little incident in 

Richmond and similarly built new and impressive visitor centers at Appomattox and Gettysburg. 

However, enrollees conducting similar projects at Shiloh encountered discrimination largely 

because Senator Kenneth McKellar failed to provide the CCC much needed political support.
52

 

Moving away from battlefields and back to the canal, Angela Sirna's thesis generally argues that 

the C&O Canal NHP emerged as a park equally dedicated to natural conservation, historical 

preservation, and public recreation. One chapter in particular is dedicated to detailing the 

experience of CCC enrollees at the C&O Canal and served as an excellent launching point for 

this study.
53

  

 As for primary sources generated by the CCC, there is rarely a mention of race or 

ethnicity in any primary source documents outside of basic identifiers. This should not be too 

surprising given that just three of the 324 CCC camps (with 52,000 men in total) that operated in 

the Washington D.C. region consisted of African American enrollees. Two of the three African 

American camps in the entire region worked on the C&O Canal, both founded rather late in 

1938, with the third organized at the U.S. National Arboretum in 1934. Even documents 

specifically from these camps generally fail to mention the race of enrollees. It is only through 
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hints, usually in education documents, that one could ascertain that these camps were home to 

African American men.
54

  

 As a final note on the CCC's closure as a Federal agency, the Black press was perhaps the 

largest public supporter for the continuation of the CCC even after America's entry into World 

War II. The Pittsburgh Courier rightfully noted that ending the CCC would disproportionately 

harm African American youth given both the recent advent of all-black camps and the fact that a 

large number of white industries still refused to hire African Americans.
55

 Others commentators 

from both within and outside of the CCC campaigned for the program to become a permanent 

fixture of American life as well. Most couched their arguments in appeals to either educational 

goals or the rehabilitation of troubled youth. For instance, former CCC educational advisor 

James Lanigan wrote in an editorial that the agency can best be understood as an alternative 

educational program rather than work relief.
56

 John Janney, a writer, viewed the CCC as a 

perfect compatriot to the American public school system and colleges. In his view, these 

institutions only prepared people to become white-collar workers. Anyone wishing for a 

technical job simply had to figure it out on their own, which often meant dropping out of school 

at a young age. In Janney's argument, the CCC offered these youths an alternative path.
57

 

  

                                                           
54

 Davidson and Jacobs,  33-4. 
55

 Paige. "CCC End Affects Negroes," The Pittsburgh Courier, Jun. 13, 1942. 
56

 James Lanigan, "Education in the CCC: Weapon or Feint," Education 61 (1940), 91-94. 
57

 John Janney, "C-Boys to the Rescue," American Magazine 131 (1941), 101-104. 



32 

SECTION TWO: THE COMPANIES ' EXPERIENCES PRIOR TO 

ARRIVING AT  THE CANAL  

 The two companies stationed at the canal, Co. 325 and Co. 333, had other assignments 

before ever arriving at Cabin John. Co. 325 was possibly a newly-formed company using a 

previously-used designation from another Maryland-based African American company, but it is 

impossible to tell without lists of enrollees. These lists are not readily available.
58

 Co. 325's old 

home camp, Camp Navy-1-MD of Indian Head, was terminated on May 31, 1938, but no transfer 

orders came from administrators. No officers from Camp Navy-1 appeared on personnel 

registers at either C&O Canal camp, so it must be assumed that Co. 325 is an entirely new 

camp.
59

 In contrast, Co. 333 had a longer path to Cabin John that involved full reorganizations, 

reassignments, and camp transfers. Over its nine years of existence, Company 333 was 

comprised of both white and African American enrollees, worked with both National Forest and 

NPS personnel, and built camps in both Virginia and Maryland. The company was first mustered 

on April 13, 1933 as a white junior unit in Fort Washington, Maryland before being transferred 

shortly thereafter to Camp NF-15 in Columbia Furnace, VA. As it worked primarily in and 

around what would become Wolf Gap Recreation Area, CCC and USDA Forest Service 

documents referred to the camp as Wolf Gap. On August 8, 1934 the company was converted 

into an African American junior unit for an unspecified reason. It is unclear from which specific 

location the CCC drew these new African American enrollees, but it can generally be assumed 

that they primarily came from Virginia. This company was transferred again on October 11, 

1937 to Camp MP-4 in Wilderness, VA to work with the NPS at Fredericksburg and 
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Spotsylvania National Military Park. Less than a year later, the Federal government entered the 

final stages of purchasing the C&O Canal and planned on creating two new CCC camps to 

renovate the neglected and flood-damaged property. The official purchase was signed on 

September 23, 1938, but work on the canal had already begun by CCC enrollees in the months 

previous. Officially, Camp NP-1-MD (housing Company 325) was founded five days before the 

purchase on September 18 with Camp NP-2-MD (housing Company 333) following soon after 

on October 5. As will be seen, often these exact dates served more as general guideposts than 

hard restrictions for the often hectic work schedule of the CCC.
60

 

 Before analyzing CCC life at the canal, it is helpful to explore the previous assignments 

of Co. 333. A large number of primary sources survive from the canal, but just as many also 

survived from both Wolf Gap and Wilderness. Exploring the lives of enrollees at both Wolf Gap 

and Wilderness can help us better understand life at Cabin John. Granted, it is very likely that no 

individual served in both Wolf Gap and Cabin John, but a large number of enrollees and 

administrators continued their service between Wilderness and Cabin John. No administrators 

continued their service from Wolf Gap to Wilderness. It is unknown as to whether or not 

enrollees did as no list of Wolf Gap enrollees from 1936 or 1937 has been found. Regardless, 

diving into these Virginia locales provides a better understanding for African American CCC 

camps working in rural settings engaged in massive landscape conservation and preservation 

projects as were seen at Cabin John. 

Camp NF-7 (Wolf Gap) 

 Company 333 worked along the Virginia-West Virginia border at Camp NF-15 (also 

designated as Camp F-7, Camp GWNF-15, and Camp F-15 depending on the speaker) in 
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Columbia Furnace and Wolf Gap, roughly five and thirteen miles west of Edinburg respectively, 

from May 15, 1933 until their departure for Wilderness in mid-1937. This early founding date 

made the camp part of the first enrollment period in the immediate days after CCC authorization 

that saw ten camps founded to work within George Washington National Forest. Technically, the 

camp at Wolf Gap was the first camp settled in West Virginia and was categorized briefly as a 

West Virginia camp but was eventually reclassified as Virginia-based. Enrollees often crossed 

state lines when working on projects. The Wolf Gap Recreation Area itself was (and still is) 

bisected by the Virginia-West Virginia border.  

 Upon its founding Company 333 was a white company, but by August 1934 had been re-

designated into an African American camp for unspecified reasons but likely as part of Director 

Fechner's hardening of segregation policies. Camp NF-15 and other George Washington 

National Forest CCC camps primarily developed the natural environment for recreational 

purposes. Primary projects throughout the camp's existence were constructing picnic shelters and 

trails, installing signage, and treating forested areas to prevent blights and invasive species. Top 

administrators ï Company Commander Barnard and Project Supervisor Wilkins ï remained 

intact through this shift in camp enrollees although there would be changes at later dates. The 

work generally remained the same as well before and after Camp NF-15 became an African 

American camp, with enrollees working on "construction of telephone lines, truck trails, a tool 

house, foot bridges, an office, and additional minor structures; maintenance of telephone lines, 

truck trails, and horse trails, roadside improvement; timber stand improvement; and the erection 

of many forest signs."
61

 Camp reports were similarly general in reporting the transition. 

Approximately 150 enrollees worked in a 100,000 to 175,000 acre area (depending on the report) 
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of George Washington National Forest on "road construction, road maintenance, telephone 

construction, telephone maintenance, stream improvement, forest improvement, and blister rust 

control."
62

 

 

Figure 6 - James R. Wilkins, camp superintendent of Camp NF-7, Photo by Alison T. Otis, 1982 

 Being a remote camp, problems with the supply networks were commonplace at Wolf 

Gap. A regular complaint at Wolf Gap, as with many other camps, was with the crippling 

bureaucratic inefficiencies of the federal government's food supply network. Maintaining morale 

and nutrition were an upmost priority for the CCC. Camp administrators often cited "hot food" 

for low sick rates amongst enrollees with the implication being that freshly prepared meals were 
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far healthier than enrollees' diets prior to their enrollment. Wolf Gap administrators expressed 

significant concern over the long distances traversed by government food deliveries. 

Administrators occasionally suggested that it would be more practical for camp leaders to 

purchase food locally, but this was only allowed for certain types of food. J.J. McEntee as Acting 

Director formally requested at least once that the Adjutant General's office allow the buying of 

local foodstuffs as, by McEntee's logic, food prices would be cheaper, local farms would be 

supported by CCC money, and the enrollees would receive fresher food and better nutrition. 

McEntee's supported his arguments by claiming that other CCC camp directors across Virginia 

also ran into food shortages because of poor logistics, so if leeway were granted at Wolf Gap the 

entire system could be renovated. The Adjutant General's office considered but did not allow this 

request, so six months later this camp was still receiving late and poor quality food deliveries. 

Other than food issues, this camp seemingly had no other major problems per official 

inspections. The only negative report found problems in securing quality contractor labor, 

problems that administrators apparently remedied as no further complains came from Wolf Gap 

in the next two years.
63

 

 James Wilkins, a white resident of Winchester, Virginia, worked as a foreman with the 

USDA Forest Service during the 1930s and received an appointment from the CCC as camp 

superintendent for both Camp NF-15 and Camp F-1 (Camp Roosevelt, the CCC's first 

established camp). Ten CCC camps operated within George Washington National Forest, but 

Wilkins' assignment meant Camp Wolf Gap paired with Camp Roosevelt. This is a critical 
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symbolic pairing in that Camp Roosevelt was the first-ever CCC camp and generally held by 

administrators and historians as the most emblematic of the overall organization. Wilkins was a 

relatively young man at just twenty-three, meaning he was a peer of the CCC enrollees he 

oversaw. Historians interviewed Wilkins in the 1980s about his perspective as camp 

superintendent. Interviewers were not careful to distinguish between his experiences leading a 

white camp versus the African American camp, so it is unclear as to exactly which camp or 

which time frame Wilkins refers to throughout. The lone reference to race or ethnicity came from 

Wilkins came when discussing firefighting, a training that all enrollees received. In case of an 

emergency ï which did happen when a fire burned approximately 1,500 acres at one point ï all 

nearby camps, including African American camps, came together to work in unison and as 

equals. Wilkins' office was positioned in Edinburg directly between Camp NF-15 and Camp F-1. 

As the camps were on opposite sides of the town and both roughly thirteen miles away, this 

meant Wilkins had to do a lot of driving to accomplish any in-person work. Given that Camp F-1 

was the CCC's flagship, it can be safe to assume that Wilkins spent more time with this camp. 

Overall, Wilkins' recollections dovetail with the overall CCC story of difficult physical labor 

mixed with great success for both enrollees and environment. The most telling quote could have 

come from any CCC booster piece:  "It wasn't only a case of getting a lot of work done. It was a 

case of saving the young population that had become drifters, getting them back into some kind 

of productive work and some self-respect for themselves." Beyond these generalizations, the 

interview focused on daily routine, memorable projects, and the pride Wilkins had to have been 

part of such a successful program. 

 Throughout the interview, Wilkins does provide some insight into the unique situation 

facing these George Washington National Forest camps even if he was not aware of said 
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uniqueness. First, CCC administrators encouraged Wilkins to personally recruit local men with 

relevant skills to act as foremen in the camp. This was relatively common throughout the CCC, 

but most camps had little problem finding skilled laborers to work as foremen ï not so in this 

relatively remote area. Often men who were barely qualified, if at all, would be hired on for these 

positions. Wilkins stated "We'd just pick out men who had skills that we wanted, timber skills or 

mountain skills, wouldn't get lost, and knew how to do timber cruising and everything of that 

sort." Wilkins did not specify the specific backgrounds of individual men he hired, but it is 

highly likely they were all white as the national CCC office only approved the hiring of African 

American foremen after Co. 333 departed Wolf Gap. As for the enrollees, Wilkins recalled that 

the men primarily ï about two-thirds ï came from urban areas in Washington, Norfolk, and 

Richmond with the rest coming from Appalachian locales. It is not clear from the interview as to 

which camp Wilkins recalled, the race of these enrollees, or the specific time frame. Regardless, 

at this camp Wilkins remembered a dynamic where "city boys" were woefully unprepared for 

vocational labor compared to the "mountain people" while, on the other hand, enrollees from 

Appalachia struggled in the educational program compared to urban enrollees with better access 

to classroom education. This created a dichotomy that could have developed into an irreparable 

rift between the men, but according to Wilkins such a problem never developed. 
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Figure 7 - Two enrollees clearing timbered area of dead wood, Camp A-2, Beltsville, MD, May 1940. National Archives at 

College Park. 

 Second, Wilkins entered his position with a preconceived notion of Appalachian residents 

and believed his own work helped to civilize the mountaineer, going so far in this belief that he 

thanked himself and the CCC for their civilizing work. The basis of Wilkins' logic lay in 

transportation. Enrollees built vehicle-accessible roads into mountainous areas with the intention 

of "opening up" these areas for Federal development. According to Wilkins, "Once we built 
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roads, they started going to high school, and in a few years you couldn't tell the mountain people 

from the valley people. Before you could pick 'em out of the crowd like a sore thumb." Enrollees 

built or repaired Stultz Gap Road, Liberty-Lost River Road, Lower Cove Truck Trail, and 

Thornbottom Road all for use of USDA Forest Service personnel with the assumption that 

residents would use the roads to better their lives. However, most residents were unable to use 

these roads because, like with both the Tennessee Valley Authority and creation of Shenandoah 

National Park, the government forcibly purchased the homelands of local residents, usually at a 

sharply reduced valuation, leaving locals little choice but to move out of the mountains and into 

the valleys. To be fair, Wilkins' belief was extremely common at the time amongst government 

reformers who believed that it was the government's responsibility to modernize the 

mountaineer. The prime example of such a New Deal belief was demonstrated by the Tennessee 

Valley Authority, but the CCC also espoused such an ethos within Appalachian camps.
64

 

 By August 1936 Wilkins moved on from his position and administrators appointed B.J. 

Brockenbrough. Other CCC documents from Wolf Gap show a more-or-less above average 

quality of camp life. All buildings, clothing, and sleeping arrangements were considered "good," 

men were sufficiently trained in both fire prevention and first aid, and enrollees had at their 

disposal a wide range of automobiles and machinery such as trucks, tractors, "trail builders," and 

"dirt movers." Overall, inspectors assessed the camp condition as "highly favorable." Wolf Gap 

projects expanded to include stream improvement and water management, two skills that would 

prove useful a few years later at the C&O Canal. As an example, a camp inspection report dated 
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August 5, 1936 reported a camp with four Army officers and 151 African American enrollees. 

Of the 151, administrators assigned 22 of them to camp work with the bulk force of 112 assigned 

to general National Forest work. The rest were either on sick leave or not yet assigned. Just 11 of 

these enrollees were considered "local" although inspectors did not clarify this designation. 

Camp NF-15 seems to have been generally on par with other National Forest CCC camps except 

for the low number of "local" enrollees, a problem likely caused by the low number of African 

Americans living in Shenandoah County, VA during this time period.
65

 

 Camp NF-15 officially closed on Oct. 11, 1937 and the U.S. Army salvaged twenty-five 

camp buildings. While the Army dismantled the camp, administrators had already shifted CCC 

to a new project at Wilderness battlefield near Fredericksburg on the other side of Virginia. In 

total, Company 333 spent thirty-eight months working in George Washington National Forest 

with twenty-three of those as an African American camp. As of this writing, a full  enrollee list 

for Camp NF-15 has not been found, so it is not known how many enrollees transferred to 

Wilderness along with the company. Census records though suggest that at least some enrollees 

transferred from Wolf Gap to Wilderness, meaning the Company 333 in Wilderness was 

effectively the same group of enrollees as the one in Wolf Gap.
66

 From administrative lists 

however, none of the Army or USFS personnel went along with the company. This makes sense 

considering USFS administrators no longer affiliated with a now NPS-based CCC camp and 
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would instead stay in George Washington National Forest. For instance, Robert C. Mali, second 

in command at Camp NF-15 as of August 1936, became commander of Camp Roosevelt (F-1) in 

December 1937. Another Camp NF-15 administrator, Donald R. Hyland, also stayed in the area 

and lived in Woodstock, VA as of January 1938.
67

  

Camp MP-4 (Wilderness) 

 

 

Figure 8 - Camp MP-4, Wilderness, Virginia, November 1934  

 In Camp MP-4 at Wilderness, enrollees now worked in battlefield conservation and 

preservation, effectively transitioning from conservation projects based in shaping natural 

resources for an acceptable degree of human use to preservation-minded recreation work focused 

on protecting cultural landscapes. The battlefields around Fredericksburg, Wilderness included, 

housed nearly a dozen CCC camps. Wilderness itself had four and each of these regularly rotated 

companies. Company 333 was the third of four companies to occupy Camp NP-24/MP-4 and the 

only African American. Now under the direction of the National Park Service, enrollees repaired 

battlefield trenches, repaired and built roads, and smoothed out landscape that had become 

overgrown in the intervening seventy years since the battle. Park beautification was the primary 

goal of this company accomplished through transplanting and planting trees and shrubbery. 

Public use was also of high concern as enrollees also renovated pre-existing picnic areas. 
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Enrollees working to plant trees on the battlefield reported finding a range of archeological 

remains ï or "souvenirs" as the men called them: bullets, pieces of rifles, a small cannon, and 

skeletal remains. Perhaps surprisingly, finding such "souvenirs" was actually enjoyable for the 

men. Leroy Moore, an assistant camp enrollee leader, expressed relief at the company's move to 

Wilderness because the men preferred battlefield restoration over National Forest conservation 

projects.
68

 

 Few problems emerged during Co. 333's year-long presence in Wilderness. The only 

significant conflict came from a complaint filed by James Dempsey, a nearby landowner, 

claiming that CCC enrollees trespassed upon his land. Dempsey asserted that Capt. Poindexter, 

the camp commander, instructed enrollees to use Dempsey's field as an athletic field without 

permission. Dempsey requested Poindexter to keep enrollees off his land, but Poindexter likely 

ignored this request. In response, Dempsey traveled to Camp MP-4 to protest directly and, in 

response, Poindexter supposedly ordered Dempsey to leave government property and to stay 

away from the camp. In another letter, Dempsey referred to Poindexter's response as 

"ungentlemanly" and stated that he would "certainly exercise [his] rights as an American Citizen 

and go to [the Forestry Superintendent's] office" whenever he felt it necessary. Dempsey 

challenged Poindexter's authority by further stating "While there, I defy you to molest me in any 

way." According to Army personnel, Dempsey also demanded the CCC pay him $10 per month 

for use of the land. The CCC refused on the grounds that such payments were against Federal 

policy. Ironically enough, Dempsey's house caught fire not long after such demands. As the CCC 

                                                           
68

 Out of the Wilderness, Dec. 31, 1937. 



44 

trained enrollees in firefighting, enrollees from Co. 333 responded to the call and saved the 

building. There were no suggestions of foul play. 
69

  

 Connected to the Dempsey problem was that CCC Camp inspectors believed the three 

commissioned officers at Wilderness, including Poindexter, were generally under-experienced 

for their jobs. As of an inspection dated March 3, 1938, Poindexter had been on duty since July 

and the other two officers possessed just five months of CCC experience combined. This lack of 

experience led to workplace tension and transfer requests from other administrators. Making 

matters worse, Poindexter and Technical Superintendent Earl I. Carner did not get along 

professionally according to regional and national administrators. Some examples supplied by 

inspectors included Carner's reluctance to release trucks for recreational use despite Poindexter's 

requests and Poindexter's refusal to allow Carner to eat breakfast after 8:30 AM. Both were 

relatively small issues that never developed into a major crisis but illustrate the often competing 

agendas of NPS and Army personnel in CCC camps.
70

 A solution came when the CCC simply 

separated quarters for technical personnel away from other camp residents, thus providing 

Carner some physical distance between himself, enrollees, and Poindexter. Before March 1938, 

technical personnel quartered alongside enrollees, which meant that they were forced to follow 

the schedule of enrollees. Starting in March 1938, a new partition was constructed in a barracks 

for this staff so they could follow their own schedules and be left alone by Poindexter. According 

to a follow-up inspection dated April 18, Carner and the Superintendent had been "working in 

complete harmony and accord."  
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 A permanent solution to both the Dempsey and Carner problems also came in April 1938. 

Poindexter was transferred out of Wilderness to Indian Head, MD on April 11. They credited the 

new partition for solving the workplace problems, but in all likelihood the problem was solved 

once Poindexter left Wilderness for good.
71

 Further, Dempsey again allowed the CCC use of his 

land after Poindexter's departure. Dempsey provided no explanation for his sudden change of 

heart, but the timing was certainly suspect. After Poindexter's transfer, his career took a sharp 

turn downward once the Army allowed his term of service to expire with no renewal. Writing in 

a May inspection report, Patrick King made clear that Poindexter "had not handled things as 

tactfully as he might have," "developed needless friction," and "was careless with proper 

attention to his reports." With Poindexter gone, a state of "harmony" prevailed at Camp MP-4 

until the unit departed for the canal.
72

 

 

Figure 9 - Shop building at Camp MP-4, Wilderness, Virginia  
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SECTION THREE : CCC TO THE C&O  

 The C&O Canal Company broke ground on July 4, 1828 with a ceremony participated in 

by President John Quincy Adams. Starting in the 1840s, canal boats hauled commercial goods, 

primarily coal, from as far west as Cumberland, MD to as far east as Georgetown once the canal 

was completed. Building the canal took much longer than imagined as labor disputes, rocky 

terrain, and material shortages burdened the company with excess debt. Because of this, the 

canal only reached Cumberland by 1850 ï significantly later and much shorter than the originally 

intended terminus of Pittsburgh and the Ohio River ï and thus the company ended the canal there 

recognizing the original plan was no longer economically feasible. In the end, the canal 

measured 184.5 miles in length with seventy-five locks, not to mention dozens of other structures 

including dams, aqueducts, bridges, and lockhouses. By the 1880s, the combination of improving 

railroad technologies and periodic, devastative flooding meant the canal was becoming 

increasingly obsolete as a commercial entity. Still, its navigational business operations continued 

until 1924. Flooding caused operators to cease commercial boat traffic because of the extent of 

the damage to the canal and the fact that repair costs were too great. The canal was effectively 

neglected upstream of Lock 5.
73

 

 Within two years of the 1924 flood, U.S. government officials discussed ways to acquire 

and utilize the largely-derelict canal property. Most proposals favored converting the land into a 

roadway. By the late 1920s, Congress moved to authorize appropriations to acquire the first 

stretch of canal to Point of Rocks, ultimately culminating in the 1930 Capper-Cramton Act that 

set aside funds for acquiring and developing this piece of canal, among other connected 
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properties.
74

 The onset of the Great Depression in 1929 meant Federal funds dried up as policy 

sought to reduce spending, so financial considerations forced government officials to shelve 

plans for the C&O Canal for the time being. The election of FDR and announcement of New 

Deal programs changed that. The establishment of the Public Works Administration (PWA) was 

generally seen as a sign that the C&O Canal project was a possibility. The PWA and other work 

relief agencies like the CCC could supply a massive amount of manual labor at a relatively low 

cost, so government employees eying the canal revived the idea. Finally, after another flood, a 

lawsuit, and the intervention of both FDR and Eleanor Roosevelt, the government purchased the 

entire canal for $2,000,000 sale in early 1938 with another $500,000 set aside for constructing a 

parkway and canal rehabilitation. All parties signed a sales contract on August 6, 1938 and other 

legal matters were postponed, thus allowing Federal work to begin via the CCC.
75

  

 As the government had just purchased a derelict canal, officials set about to establish 

unemployment relief projects to ensure the property would be of public benefit. Of special 

interest to most federal administrators was the area around the historic Great Falls Tavern and all 

areas below to Georgetown.
76

 New Deal administrators requested CCC administrators assign 

camps to the area in 1938 with the explicit intent to desilt and beautify the canal from 

Georgetown to Great Falls, roughly fourteen miles, with an eye toward future public recreation.
77

 

CCC labor made the best sense to all involved considering the sheer amount of manual labor 

needed, but there were other agencies that could have handled the task, such as the WPA, PWA, 
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or any number of private contractors. In a correspondence with Harold Ickes in 1934, Frederic A. 

Delano, chairman of the National Capital Park and Planning Commission (NCP&PC) and FDR's 

uncle, first floated the idea of using CCC labor to conserve and restore old canal locks to benefit 

the C&O Canal as well as bridges in an effort to extend the George Washington Memorial 

Parkway westward into Maryland (a project that would not actually be undertaken and 

completed until the 1960s, well after the shuttering of the CCC). About a year later in September 

1935, officials from the NPS and NCP&PC drafted a $4,000,000 executive order for land 

acquisition and CCC labor along the Potomac River extending to Harpers Ferry. This executive 

order draft paralleled other recent orders allocating money to NPS activities ï namely the Blue 

Ridge Parkway ï but FDR refused approval knowing that significant financial and legal hurdles 

remained to the question of federal ownership of the canal.
78

 

 There is no specific reason why government officials decided to use CCC labor to 

renovate the C&O Canal, nor is there a direct order explaining the decision to locate two African 

American camps at the canal. A likely reason for selecting an African American company for the 

canal project was the minimal contact these camps would have with the general public. 

Administrators hinted at this when the NPS requested a special use of CCC enrollees to direct 

parking at Great Falls on Sundays, specifically requesting white CCC enrollees from a camp at 

Rock Creek, MD. Officials felt white enrollees were "better adapted for this work" and were 

willing to deal with the inconveniences of requesting Rock Creek enrollees rather than simply 

deploy a few African American men from Cabin John. This type of action was rare though and it 

is entirely possible that administrators selected African American companies for Cabin John 
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simply because they were next in queue.
79

 Regardless, shortly before the purchase of the canal 

became official the NPS took interest in deploying CCC labor to the property. Acting Director 

A.E. Demaray expressed a vision where the NPS managed a range of CCC projects involving 

"erosion control, landscape and trail development, lock restoration, clean-up operations, etc" at 

the canal. This same letter also claimed that there were several CCC camps already in mind and 

ready for canal assignment, although Demaray did not disclose exactly which camps these 

were.
80

 The NPS instigated this project because of a reorganizing effort in 1937 that saw the 

agency open regional offices (with the C&O Canal eventually assigned to Region One out of 

Richmond, Virginia) thus allowing more direct administrative attention paid to the canal.
81

 

 While no explanation for the overall CCC deployment survives, there are some 

explanations for why Co. 333 specifically received a canal deployment. Racial motivations 

almost assuredly played a significant role. CCC officials working with Camp MP-3 in 

Wilderness, VA reported a "very special and pressing need" for "contact and guide service," 

meaning a service wherein individuals would guide visitors to parking lots, trails, and historic 

locations, that "might be met by white enrollees." It is possible this request for a new white 

company was an excuse to shift the African American company out of the park, but there is no 

clear evidence to suggest this was the case. This led to administrators transferring the African 

American company of that camp ï Company 333 ï to make room for another white company. 

Administrators believed that African American enrollees would not be capable of engaging with 

park visitors not because of their abilities, but because of an "unfavorable public reaction" to 

African Americans interacting with the public at a historic Civil War site. Officials found a 
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"homeless" white company, Camp F-9 had just been discontinued, and instructed Camp MP-4 

(occupied by Co. 333) to prepare to accept this new white company. Upon this decision, officials 

further suggested moving Co. 333 to Cabin John. Administrators also selected Company 325 for 

canal projects. Co. 325 arrived at the canal much more quickly than Co. 333 likely due to the 

company's nearer proximity in Indian Head, MD.
82

 Administrators recognized that canal work 

required significantly more than two hundred men, so they decided in June 1938 the C&O Canal 

would be a sufficient destination for Co. 333. The men of Co. 333 gained experience at 

Wilderness doing the type of work required to restore a canal, specifically conservation-minded 

landscaping needed to renovate the canal and towpath. 

 Despite the good fit for Companies 325 and 333 to the canal, there were some initial 

doubts because the Montgomery County Board of Commissioners, wherein Cabin John was 

located, lodged formal complaints regarding a potential African American CCC camp and 

formally rejected the federal plan. This action infuriated a myriad of CCC officials, all of whom 

intended to ignore these "completely without foundation" local complaints going forward. 

Herbert Evison, Acting Regional Director for the CCC, described the behavior records of 

African American companies as "fully as good as that of either white junior or white veteran 

companies." Other administrators like Stanton Smith went further in their assessment stating 

directly that African American companies are "as a general rule more amenable to discipline and 

their conduct better than white boys." Some locals actually favored the presence of the camps. 

The Greater Kensington Civic League, after seeing the progress made in rewatering the canal, 

specifically requested in October 1939 that the CCC place a second camp at the canal, a plan that 
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was already underway by the NPS and CCC. The Kensington group heaped praise upon the CCC 

enrollees in their resolution and noted their "pleasure and satisfaction" with the project already at 

this early date. This is especially notable considering the president of the Civil League, 

Washington I. Cleveland, was the head of the Kensington Chamber of Commerce and thus 

wielded significant local political clout.  

 NPS officials feared the War Department would use complaints like those from the 

Montgomery County Board of Commissioners as an excuse to declare African American CCC 

camps a hassle and would simply let existing camps dissolve. After a short exchange, the War 

Department (and the Army) agreed with the NPS that local support was not necessary to form a 

camp on federally-owned land, thus plans for the two camps at Cabin John progressed quickly.
83

 

Protests around Cabin John were quickly stamped out through "conference with the opposition" 

spearheaded by C.M. Finnan, Superintendent of National Capital Parks and settled by Director 

Fechner.
84

 After a few months, locals were eventually "satisfied" with the camp presence, thus 

proving federal officials correct. The final hurdle for the transfer was the approval of Director 

Fechner, which he granted quickly and without question.
85

 Supporting the decision to establish 

the canal camps, there was just one known incident between CCC enrollees and the surrounding 
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community. Angela Sirna detailed an incident when Maurice Salsbury, a local white man, 

accused enrollees of taking his canal boat on a joyride. Both Salsbury and lockkeeper William 

Davis reported to CCC administrators the boat was last seen the previous weekend filled to the 

brim with "colored men, in the uniform of the Civilian Conservation Corps, going down the 

river." It is unclear as to the outcome of this event for the enrollees, Salsbury, or the boat.
86

 

DEPLOYING THE ENROLLEES  

 

Figure 10 - Aerial view of Camp NP-1. National Archives at College Park. 
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Figure 11 - Camp NP-1, NPS Map, Jan. 5, 1940. 

 The government established two new CCC camps around the time of the official and 

finalized purchase of the C&O Canal on September 23, 1938. Camp NP-1-MD (housing Co. 

325) was officially founded on September 18 with Camp NP-2-MD (housing Co. 333) following 

soon after on October 5. The structures of Camp NP-1 were completed on October 25, just thirty-

two days after opening. Camp NP-2-MD took a few months before being completed officially on 

February 2 of the following year. There is some discrepancy in government documents as some 

indicate enrollees arrived between mid-June and mid-July, a full three months before the camps 

were established on record. The fuzziness of this start date was intentional and likely because 

federal officials had to wait until formal acquisition of the canal property. Co. 325 occupied a 

temporary tent camp as of June 27, although the exact location is not readily apparent, with the 

intention of residing within barracks at Cabin John between July 15 and 18 (barracks were not 
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built until October).
87

 Director Fechner approved Camp NP-2 on June 14 only to waffle back-

and-forth on the camp's establishment over the next few weeks. The reasons for this indecision 

are not apparent. Possible explanations stem from local opposition to the camps and an 

unexpected high cost in establishing the camp meaning Camp NP-2 would simply be delayed to 

the next budget period. Time was an issue as well. Army officials were still working out the 

logistics for portable structures, primarily wooden barracks and other buildings, in mid-August 

before eventually settling on relocating structures from Camp Army-3 at Fort Belvoir, VA to 

Cabin John.
88

 In September, the Adjutant General's office requested another $19,790 for 

completion of Camp NP-2, an amount considered "excessive" by federal officials and caused by 

the high cost of skilled labor in the Washington D.C. area. On October 11, Fechner had enough 

of the delays and formally requested the War Department place Camp NP-2 on its expedited list, 

a request that was fulfilled. Still, despite this all of the camp's necessary systems ï water, 

sewage, and electrical ï remained incomplete until early 1939.
89

 The only photo known to exist 

as of this writing from Co. 325 was that of George Tyler, but it is still unknown whether or not 

Tyler transferred to Cabin John in 1938 (Figure 12). 
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Figure 12 - George Tyler, Co. 325, Indian Head, MD. 

 Now that the camps were established on paper, administrators moved forward with 

agency plans. The federal government informed the public of the CCC's plans for the canal in 

April 1938 although details were scant.
90

 New Deal money poured into the C&O Canal 

development starting in 1938 without a clearly defined project plan. Perhaps the largest 

government expenditure ï other than the CCC camps themselves ï was a $500,000 allotment 

from the Public Works Administration for "development and improvement of the old C&O 

canal" in October 1938. Camp Superintendent C. Marshall Finnan informed the public at this 

point that "surveying will begin" for approximately the first twenty miles of canal and that "a 

large part of the labor will be done by CCC enrollees stationed at Carderock." No mention was 

made of either the fact that work had already begun by this point or that the CCC enrollees were 
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all African American.
91

 Just two days later Director Fechner publicly announced CCC plans 

which included an announcement of a "new camp near Cabin John" and that "another camp had 

been placed in operation there." A few newspaper articles announced publicly that the 

government planned on converting the canal to recreation use and that the CCC had already 

begun "preliminary work" by late October 1938. This work included the restoration (dredging, 

draining, and removing vegetation) of the canal area between Lock 14 (milepost 9.5) and 

Widewater (milepost 13.8) by the approximately 350 enrollees using tractors, "steam dredging 

shovels," and manual labor. No newspaper articles mentioned that these camps were explicitly 

for African American enrollees. These omissions are particularly telling, indicating that Fechner 

and other government officials likely wanted to avoid any potential public outrage over the 

camps.
92

 

 According to Superintendent Finnan, canal camps were only to complete projects related 

to "the necessary preparatory work incident to the reconstruction." Each camp was further 

instructed in November 1938 not to conduct any full restorations so the NPS could determine the 

best usage of the property.
93

 NPS staff conducted a basic public opinion study in 1938 on the 

government's intentions for the canal that found locals expressed great interest in the 

government's project as many already used the canal for their own recreation purposes. The vast 

majority desired the government to preserve the canal "in as natural a condition as possible" with 

a fully restored towpath and re-watered canal prism. Locals also felt that motorized craft should 

not be allowed on the canal in favor of classic horse- or mule-drawn flat-bottom barges. This 
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anecdotal study is that it included an early suggestion of converting lockhouses into "minimum 

accommodation" so as to facilitate multi-day canal trips and combat the possibility of an invasive 

hotel industry.
94

 Away from public view, a memo from Edmund Rogers, the Superintendent of 

Yellowstone National Park, to NPS Director Arno Cammerer suggests that many within the NPS 

suspected the CCC canal project would result in significant destruction of the natural landscape. 

Director Cammerer dispatched Rogers to the canal in late 1938 to meet with both camp 

superintendents and observe CCC work projects. Overall, Rogers was thoroughly pleased with 

what he saw from a conservationist's point of view. In his own words, "I found no evidence of 

wanton or unnecessary destruction, but rather gained the impression that the work was being 

carried on with a conservative and sound approach."
95

 In January 1939 with both full NPS 

blessing and taking public interest to heart, Director Fechner announced four hundred CCC 

enrollees were hard at work restoring the C&O canal "as a recreational waterway" under the 

supervision of the NPS. Newspaper articles downplayed the enrollees' work, directly quoting 

Director Fechner as claiming enrollees were simply "clearing small trees and bush growth from 

the bed of the canal" for its first eighteen miles. Fechner was quick to clarify though that enrollee 

work would escalate soon with the "shaping and rebuilding of the towpath," which included the 

fil ling-in and grading of the path and "the rehabilitation of fifteen lockhouses, construction of 

parking areas, picnic grounds, roads and trails, a water supply system, and a sanitation system in 
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the Great Falls area." Fechner estimated that these tasks would take between three and five years 

to complete.
96

 

 

Figure 13 - Enrollees spreading gravel over freshly spread tar, Camp A-2, Beltsville, MD, May 1940. National Archives at 

College Park. 
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Figure 14 - Enrollees spreading gravel over freshly spread tar, Camp A-2, Beltsville, MD, May 1940. National Archives at 

College Park. 
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Figure 15 - Enrollee flattening gravel over freshly spread tar, Camp A-2, Beltsville, MD, May 1940. National Archives at 

College Park. 

 Moving into 1939, NPS administrators typically utilized skilled PWA labor whenever 

possible for projects but would later assign CCC enrollees to the same projects after expending 

funds earmarked for PWA labor. As for the specifics of these projects, the NPS clearly made 

recreation a priority over that of other skilled work such as property surveys. Administrators 

reduced the budget for engineering survey work in favor of more quickly readying the canal for 

public use. Granted, a reduction of $6,500 out of an overall $213,000 project budget is not 

particularly large, but it does illustrate where the administrators' priorities lay. Major recreation 

projects at this point focused on re-watering the Seneca-Little Falls section of the canal, repairing 

the Widewater area, and flood repair and prevention. Both PWA and CCC laborers were to be 


